UNITED
NATIONS C R C

Di str.
GENERAL

CRC/ C/ SR. 483
30 Septenber 1998

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Ni net eent h sessi on
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 483rd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Pal ais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 24 Septenber 1998, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Irag

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session.

GE. 98-18386 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Iraq (continued) (CRC/C/41/Add.3; CRC/C QIRAQ 1, witten
replies of the Governnent of Iraq to the questions asked in the list of
i ssues)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the nenbers of the del egation of
lraq resuned their places at the Comrittee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation to resune their replies to the
guestions asked by Commi ttee nenbers at the previous neeting.

3. M. YOUSIFE (lraq), responding to questions relating to the general |ega
framework for ensuring inplenmentation of the rights of the child in Iraq, said
that Iraqi domestic law currently incorporated the neasures specified in
article 4 of the Convention, which could be invoked in the national courts.
Legi sl ati on adopted since accession to the Convention was conmpatible with its
provi si ons, but should any inconpatibility be found with earlier |egislation
there was a rul e enabling judges to overconme that problem since the

provi sions of the Convention took precedence over national |egislation
Indeed, in relation to article 41 of the Convention, there were a nunber of
provisions in lragi |law that added to the safeguards for children provided in
t he Convention, for exanple in the area of ensuring observation of the best
interests of the child. The Departnment of Human Rights was the authority
responsi ble for seeing that Iraq's commtnments in the field of human rights
were nmet and for ensuring the conpatibility of domestic legislation with the
Conventi on.

4, The central body principally concerned with inplenentation of the
Convention was the Child Welfare Authority established under Act No. 272

of 1982, nmade up of representatives of the Mnistries of Labour and Socia
Affairs, Education, Health and Culture and Information, the Planning Board,
the National Federation of Iraqi Students and Youth, the General Federation of
Iragi Wonen and two experts in the field chosen by the head of the Authority.
The responsibilities of the Child Welfare Authority included: draw ng up
general policies for protection and pronotion of the child; coordinating the
activities of bodies working in the field; inproving children's services;
monitoring the progress of programmes established by various authorities;
adopting resolutions for anendnent of existing |legislation or pronul gation of
new | egi sl ation; coordinating with the responsible authorities the

organi zation of conferences and sem nars and lraqgi participation in simlar
events organi zed by international or Arab bodies; coordinating with the
responsi bl e authorities the research and collection of statistics on children
subm tting proposals for agreenments between Iraq and other Arab or other
States relating to cooperation with regard to protection of children
consulting national and international experts and dealing with matters
relating to the activities of bodies concerned with child welfare. The

deci sions of the Authority were subject to approval by the Vice-President of
Irag. It was therefore clear that Irag had been giving special attention to
child welfare well before it had acceded to the Convention. Funding was nade
avail abl e for protection of the rights of the child.



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 3

5. A question had been asked about non-governnmental organizations. Two
such organi zations, the National Federation of lragi Students and Youth and
the General Federation of Iraqi Wmen were represented on the Child Welfare
Aut hority, which anong other matters was responsible for the welfare of mnors
det ai ned under a court order issued under article 22 of the Juvenile Code.
Concern for children's rights was included anong the activities of a nunmber of
non- gover nnental organi zations with a nore general nmandate, such as the

Red Crescent Society and the General Federation of Iraqi Wnen. The latter
wor ked wi th ot her bodi es, governnental and non-governmental, that were
concerned with the welfare of wonen, children and the famly. It carried out
studies ained at inproving legislation with a view to ensuring equality

bet ween men and wonen and pronoting famly welfare and had al so established a
consul tative body on child welfare. The Federation of Iraqgi Students and
Youth al so provided services for children, nmintained contacts with children
in State institutions and was active in the prevention of child abuse.
Various clubs existed to enable young people to participate in sports. The
Red Crescent Society was concerned with child welfare in the context of its
work with the health authorities. It also assisted other voluntary

organi zations in their work with children. Iraq was endeavouring to create
awar eness of the need to pronote the welfare of mothers, children and
famlies, to ensure that attention was paid to reproductive health and to
strengthen voluntary organi zations. The Iraqi Child Support Association
pronot ed neasures to assist children, such as disability centres.

6. In addition to national non-governnental organizations, Irag worked

wi th international non-governnental organizations, many of which were giving
assistance in dealing with the consequences of the embargo. Such

organi zati ons worked either directly with Irag or through UNI CEF or UNDP on
joint projects within the country. In addition, many nationa

non- gover nment al organi zati ons (NGOs) were seeking consultative status with
the United Nations. National groups of non-governnmental advisers, such as
the Iragi Human Rights Comrittee - a group of individuals working for the
protection of human rights - were also consulted by the Government.

7. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraq) said that many international NGOs, based both in
Arab countries and el sewhere, had been assisting lragq in its efforts

since 1990 to cope with the health needs of wonen and children, given the
reduction in its financial resources follow ng the enbargo. Those

organi zati ons were working either directly with Iraq or through UNI CEF, WHO
and FAO, which thensel ves were working with Iraq, to hel p i npl enent programres
for the welfare of children and young people. A nunber of programmes, such as
t he expanded programe on imruni zation (EPlI), were ained at inproving child

health. |Iraq had re-instituted the EPI progranme in 1995, having received
vacci nes and the cold chain for storing and transporting them from UNI CEF and
ot her organizations. [Inmunization canpaigns within the framework of

polionyelitis eradication had been carried out each year from 1995 to 1998.
Over 3,250,000 children had been inmmuni zed against polio in 1995. A nationa
canpai gn to inmmuni ze children agai nst neasl es had been carried out in 1995 and
that had been followed by a canpaign in 1996 to inmunize nothers agai nst
illness in the perinatal period.



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 4

8. In cooperation with international and non-governnental organizations,
Iraq had distributed over 1,000 tons of food to children in need through food
aid centres set up for the purpose. Conplete transparency was observed in the
reception and distribution of such supplies. Inplenmentation of the Menorandum
of Understanding (the food-for-o0il agreenent) with the United Nations had
enabl ed sone but not all of the needs of wonmen and children for food and
medicine to be net. As a result of difficulties created by some nenbers of
the Conmttee established under Security Council resolution 661 (1990), no
nmore than 70 per cent of the first phase envi saged under the Menorandum had
been conpl eted, while inplenmentation of the fourth and final phase had stil

not been started. The Governnent's shortage of financial resources since 1990
has nmeant that health and preventive programmes had suffered and the nost

vul nerabl e sectors of the population, including nothers and children, had been
deni ed adequat e assi stance. Sone progranmes in existence before 1990, such as
the i muni zati on canpai gns agai nst hepatitis B and agai nst munps, neasl es and
rubella, had had to be halted, with many cases of those di seases occurring as
a result.

9. The CHAI RPERSON invited Committee menmbers to ask questions and comment
on issues relating to definition of the child and general principles.

10. Ms. OUEDRAOGO asked for information on the other national NGOs
concerned with children's matters, in addition to the three nenti oned.

11. According to paragraph 4 of the witten response to question 9 of the
list of issues, the mninmumlegal age for nmarriage was 18 years. Did actua
practice differ fromthat? For exanple, girls fromvery conservative famlies
often married very young. It was understandably difficult to change

| ong-standing habits and traditions and, in addition, as the report

acknow edged, children reached sexual maturity early in Iraq. Wat had been
the inmpact of the canpaigns run by the General Federation of lraqi Wnen to
rai se awareness of the harnful effects of early marriage?

12. Wth regard to the right to life, which was said to be guaranteed by the
Penal Code, she asked what the attitude was to abortion in view of the early
sexual maturity in Iraq or in cases of pregnancy follow ng rape.

13. The enbodi ment of equality between nen and wonen in the | aw was wel cone,
but she wondered how it was applied in practice in view of the fact that the
Islamic Sharia did not recognize the full equality of men and wonen. She
recall ed that during the preparatory work for the Beijing Conference, and at
the Conference itself, there had been considerabl e discussion of equality, in
which the Islam c countries had expressed a preference for the termequity.
Was there any discrimnation in terns of pronotion, renuneration or on grounds
of the need for maternity | eave or time off for breast-feeding, suffered by

t he many wormen who hel d responsible posts in Iraq?

14. Ms. PALME said she shared Ms. Quedraogo's concerns about the situation
of young girls. Wile welcom ng the canpaign to provide education on
reproductive health matters, she asked whether it also reached out to young
men. It was disappointing that no representative of the Ceneral Federation of
Iragi Wonen had been included in the del egation, since even if wonmen enjoyed
full equality it was still useful to have their participation. Wat was being



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 5

done to enable children's views to be heard in schools and el sewhere? Judges
coul d perhaps ensure their views were heard in courts. Wre any changes
envi saged in that respect?

15. Ms. SARDENBERG said that follow ng the responses of the Iraq

del egation at the previous neeting, she would recommend strengthening the
central governnment body responsible for the inplenentation of the Convention
the Child Welfare Authority. A special effort should be nmade to ensure that
it had sufficient visibility, resources and political standing within the
Governnment to act decisively on behalf of the children of Irag. She had been
gratified to hear of the Authority's cooperation with international and | oca
NGOs. It was inportant that Governments should work in a creative partnership
with civil society. The programes that had been put in place in lrag with
the cooperation of NGOs should al so receive support fromthe Government. The
i nformati on provided regarding the National Plan was al so wel cone. She
stressed that point because the Convention was a very conprehensive docunent
that covered a wide range of children's rights. It was inportant, therefore,
for every aspect of the life of the child to be borne in mnd. The

mul ti sectoral nature of the Authority and its integration with the Nationa

Pl an enmbodi ed the kind of approach that the Conmittee |liked to see. She
under st ood, however, that the Plan had been drafted in 1994 and adopted

in 1995. Since it established targets and goals, it was inportant that it
shoul d be revised and that realistic and concrete goals should be set for the
next few years. |If such a global approach were adopted, the Governnent of
Irag woul d be able to continue to work actively to inprove the situation of
children in the country notw thstandi ng current constraints.

16. Reverting to the section of the list of issues entitled Genera
Principles, she joined those col |l eagues who had stressed the situation of the
girl child. It appeared fromthe information provided that the rate of
enrolment of girls in school did not differ greatly fromthat for boys.
However, it could well be that some discrinmnation still existed in practice.
The female literacy rate was not as good as that for males. The

i mpl enentati on of the Convention on the Rights of the Child should be
integrated with that of the Convention on the Elimination of Discrimnation
agai nst Wonen. She would Iike nore information on the situation of gir
children in traditional famlies and in rural areas, where it was generally
more difficult to bring about a change of attitude.

17. Ms. MXHUANE al so stressed the inportance of integrating the

i npl enmentation of the Convention with the National Plan for Children
especially in regard to efforts to rehabilitate children suffering fromthe
effects of war and of the trade enbargo. 1In regard to the definition of the
child, she noted that the Convention recognized the child' s evolving capacity.
She would like to know, therefore, the age of sexual consent for a child, the
age at which a child had the right to receive nedical counselling, the age at
which the child had the | egal capacity to | odge a conplaint, and the age at
which it had the right to participate in | egal proceedings. She also w shed
to know whet her any neasures had been put in place by the Governnent to ensure
that girls were accorded the sane privileges within the famly as boys.

18. M. RABAH said that there were situations in which the “best interests
of the child” could conflict with the interests of the State or with matters



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 6

of customand tradition or religious belief. He would |like further

i nformati on, therefore, on the authority of the courts in Ilraq in cases in
which there was a conflict between the Convention and national |egislation
Had any position been taken by legal authorities in Iraq fromthe point of
view of the best interests of the child, either in a civil or a crimna
connection? Could the powers of a guardian over a m nor be derogated and
handed over to another person if that was in the child' s best interest? He
noted that Irag had entered certain reservati ons concerning adoption at the
time of its accession to the Convention. He asked whether the system of
adoption in Iraqg was the sanme as that in other Muslimcountries where it was
governed by Islamc | aw

19. He noted fromthe report that there were certain exceptions to the rule
whereby a person under the age of 18 was considered to be a child. One was

in regard to volunteering for the armed forces. A child under 18 needed the
agreenent of his guardian to do so. Presunmably, however, he could vol unteer
at an earlier age. |If he did so at the age of 12 or 14, for exanple, could he
in fact be accepted by the arny? The Declaration recently adopted in Rome, in
which Iraq had participated, stated that it was an international crinme for a
child under 15 to join the arnmed forces and to participate in hostilities.

In the case of the m ninum age for nedical consultation, certain activities,
such as a surgical operation, needed the consent of a guardian. If that
consent could not be obtained because of the absence of the guardian, would
the operation be postponed despite the agreenent of the child?

20. Ms. KARP endorsed Ms. Sardenberg's recommendation that the Child

Wel fare Authority should be strengthened, and asked whet her the Government had
consi dered adding the Mnistry of Finance to the partners in that centra

body. Mnistries of Finance tended to be grudgi ng over resources unless they
were fully involved in the related deliberations. She would also Iike to know
how the Authority collaborated with the |ocal authorities and whether it was
in direct touch with the field.

21. In connection with the definition of the child, she would Iike further
information on early marriage, including the nunber of court consents to
marri age under the age of 18. Could marriage take place at under 15 years of
age? Did judges concur with the belief expressed in sone quarters that sexua
maturity cane early in the Mddle East? Wre requirenents of physical and
mental fitness for nmarriage ever discussed? She would like to know the
results of the public canpaign against early marriage in respect of
applications for court consent.

22. Regardi ng the m ni num age for nedical counselling w thout parenta
consent, she found it interesting that such counselling was permtted w thout
t he consent of the guardi an except in the case of surgical operations. She
wonder ed, however, how young children seeki ng such counselling wthout their
parents were protected from abuse by charlatans. Was there any official point
from whi ch they could receive advice on the choice of physician?

23. She noted that, under the Iragi Constitution, all citizens were equa
and coul d not be discrimnated agai nst on grounds of sex, race, |anguage,
social origin or religion. Did resident non-citizens enjoy the sane rights or
were certain rights not guaranteed to then? She would like further



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 7

i nformati on on the situation of the Turkomans and the popul ati on of the

Sout hern Marsh Region in respect of equality and protection agai nst
discrimnation. 1In regard to gender equality, she would |ike nore informtion
about the legislation referred to in the reply to question 14 of the |ist of

i ssues. How were the rights of wonen enhanced by that |egislation and what
had been the results of the National Strategy for the Advancenent of Iragq
Wonmen?

24. Lastly, with regard to the principles set forth in article 12 of the
Convention regarding the views of the child, she noted that the witten answer
gave the inpression that, while it was not forbidden, there was no obligation
to consult the opinions of children in matters of concern to them such as
proceedi ngs for divorce. The nessage of the Convention was a combi nati on of
the principles of the best interests of the child and of respect for the views
of the child, in the sense that the child' s best interests could not be known
unl ess the child had the right to express its views and be heard. The sane
applied in the hone. She asked whether parents in Iraq |listened to their
children, or whether the tradition that children should be seen and not heard
and that parents knew best what was good for themstill operated?

25. Ms. MBA said that, even in the adverse conditions of wartine

in 1983-1989, Iraq had been able to make consi derabl e advances in child
protection and survival. She believed that, with the strengthening of the
Child Welfare Authority and the nobilization of NGOs, the Government could
make still further advances despite the current situation. The inpact of the
war had brought many changes in the systemof fanmly values and in patterns of
behaviour: the increase in the nunber of single parent famlies, the rise in
t he nunber of disabled, the change in the status and role of working

wonen etc. The children's rights approach, using the Convention as a tool
coul d again bring about the emergence of the child as a national priority.

26. Ms. PALME had an additional question in regard to inheritance. Wre
girls and boys equally entitled to inherit fromtheir parents?

27. Ms. OUEDRAOGO had a question regarding the duration of compul sory
education. \What steps were taken to ensure that all children of school age in
fact attended school, especially in the current circunstances? In the witten
reply, the age from®6 to 18 was referred to as the age for school attendance.
However, the Committee was also told that children could work as of the age

of 15. If a child of over 15 was working, could he also continue his
education?

28. The CHAI RPERSON said that entry to the arned forces under the age of 15
conflicted with the provisions of the Convention. Wth regard to the
principle of non-discrimnation, she noted that the Convention had primacy in
regard to legislative practice within the country. She wondered whether, in
addition to harnmonizing its legislation in that connection, consideration was
bei ng gi ven to extending such harnoni zation to other areas of the Convention

29. M. KOOSOV said that, according to Iraqgi |egislation, arnmed forces
vol unteers should be not |ess than 14 years of age. Thus, a 14-year-old boy
could volunteer. However, according to the Convention, the m nimm age for

i nvol venent in the arned forces was 15. The del egation had stated that, in



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 8

cases of conflict between national |aw and international obligations under the
Convention, primacy was given to international law. Could the del egation
confirm therefore, that 14-year-old boys were not accepted into the armed
forces on a voluntary basis?

30. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation of Iraqg to respond to the further
guestions put by the menbers of the Conmittee.

31. M. YOUSIFE (lraq) said that, in accordance with the Constitution
whereby all citizens of Iraq were equal before the Iaw, the Turkoman mnority
inlrag were Iragi citizens and enjoyed all the rights accorded to such
citizens, including cultural rights. To give the Cormittee a ful
under st andi ng of the situation, he would describe the position in respect of
education and the use of minority | anguages of all the mnorities in Iraq.

In 1969, the Revolutionary Council had decided that, in view of the friendly
and fraternal relations between the two main ethnic groups, Arabs and Kurds,
the citizens of the northern zone should be given the right to use Kurdish in
all spheres of life and to study in Kurdish up to the end of secondary
education. A detailed decision had been taken at a later date regarding
teaching in Kurdish at the universities and in mlitary and police academ es.
Al'l audi o-visual aids used in education were to be made avail able in Kurdish.
At the sane tinme, Arabic was also taught in all the schools where Kurdi sh was
the teachi ng | anguage. Arrangenents were nmade for all libraries to hold
Kurdi sh texts and Kurdish authors were allowed to create an Authors

Associ ation and were given help in publishing their works through the
establ i shnment of a special Kurdish printing office. A weekly newspaper and a
mont hl y publication were published in Kurdish and the production of Kurdish

| anguage tel evision programes was encouraged. All schools in the Kurdish
area were given Kurdi sh nanes.

32. In 1970, the Revolutionary Council had adopted a decision providing for
teaching in the Turkoman | anguage at the primary level. A Turkoman teaching
service was organized within the Mnistry of Education and audi o-vi sua
materials in Turkoman were provided to the schools concerned. In the case of
other mnority groups, such as the Chal deans, Assyrians and Arneni ans, the
mnority |anguage was used in all primry schools in which they constituted a
majority. Arabic was the teaching | anguage in secondary schools, but the
mnority | anguage was al so taught wherever they were in the mgjority. Syriac
was taught at the university of Baghdad, but as an ancient |anguage. Wth
regard to Christian children in Iraqi schools, as he had indicated at the
previous neeting, if at |east 25 per cent of the pupils were Christian, the
school was obliged to provide teaching in the Christian religion

33. A question had been asked about the cultural rights of the people of the
Sout hern Marsh Region. He believed that any differences between the

i nhabitants of that region and the people of the rest of Iraqg were largely
fabricated by the media. None of the South's ethnic, religious or even
linguistic characteristics differed fromthose of the Centre. Children in the
Sout h enjoyed the sane rights as those in the rest of the country.

34. In regard to gender equality, lraqi legislation was particularly
favourable. 1Ilraq was a party to the Convention on the Elimnation of
Di scrimnation Agai nst Wonen and was currently preparing its second report to



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 9

the treaty body concerned. After the Fourth Wrld Conference on Wonen, held
in 1995, Iraq had adopted a National Strategy for the Advancenent of Iragq
Wonen, up to and including the year 2005. A special body had been set up
under the Mnistry of Social Affairs, including representatives of the

M nistries of Justice and Education, the National Planning Authority, the
Wnen's Federation, and the Mnistry of Foreign Affairs. Special units had
been established in all the national Mnistries to pronote the Strategy and
report on its progress, particular attention being given to the situation of
girl children.

35. The fairly equal gender distribution anmong the 70,000 children in

ki ndergarten, the slightly over 3 million in primry education and the
slightly over 1 million in secondary education denonstrated that gender
discrimnation did not exist within the education system On the subject of
marri age, the relevant legislation required that both woul d-be spouses shoul d
be of sound m nd, although judges could authorize the marriage of a person who
was nentally ill if they considered that it posed no threat to the safety of
the famly or of society. A girl under the age of 15 could be authorized by a
judge to enter into marriage, with the agreenent of her parents or guardi ans,
provi ded she was considered to be of sufficient physical and nmental maturity.
Extrenely strict health and welfare criteria were applied to protect persons
under the age of 18.

36. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraqg) explained that responsibility for reproductive
health lay with the Famly Planning Institute, the Mnistry of Health and the
General Union of Women. Family planning clinics offered educational and

awar eness-rai sing activities, in addition to famly planning and birth contro
services. Semnars had recently been organi zed by the General Union of Wnen
t hroughout Iraq in connection with such issues.

37. Eligibility to volunteer for mlitary service was confined to the 14-28
age bracket, with volunteers under the age of 18 requiring paternal consent.
It was not possible to join the arny before the age of 18. It was to be noted

in that connection that Iranian soldiers of under 15 years of age had been
taken prisoner by the Iraqi forces during the war, while lraqi prisoners had
all been at |east 18 years old. As regards the manner in which courts

def ended the best interests of children, the Law on the Protection of Young
Peopl e required that both potential adoptive parents were required to submt
an application for adoption, which would be granted by the juvenile court only
if it was entirely satisfied that the prospective parents were fully able to
protect the rights and best interests of the child, and subject to a tria

peri od of six nmonths, extendable for a further six nmonths, during which tine a
soci al worker would visit the couple's hone at |east once a nonth to confirm
their desire to foster and care for the child. Should one prospective parent
desist, or the court find that the adoption was not in the best interests of
the child, then the child would be placed in the care of an appropriate
institution. 1In the event that the adoption application was granted, the |aw
requi red that the nother should refrain from working outside the home unti

the child came of age. The linmited nunber of wonen in Iraqi delegations to
the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child was to be attri buted,
during the 1990s, to the effects of the enbargo. However, the present



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 10

del egation contained a fenmale representative of the Foreign Ofice and it was
to be hoped that the nunber of wonen on del egations in the future would be
hi gher.

38. VWile the Mnistry of Finance, as an executive body, allocated to child
wel fare organi zati ons the suns decided by the Council of Mnisters, the
M nistry was not actually involved in the activities of such organizations.

39. M. YOUSIFE (lraq) said that children could be submitted to two types of
nmedi cal exami nation, firstly as a matter of routine and secondly in the event
of an energency which m ght necessitate surgery, for which the guardian's

aut horization was required. Where inmediate action was necessary to save a
child's life, a comrittee of three specialists could take that decision in the
absence of the guardi an.

40. The practice of abortion was punishabl e under the Crim nal Code by
i mpri sonment or fine of both the woman in question and the practitioner
Certain attenuating circunstances night be taken into consideration, for
exanple, if the woman perforned the abortion herself.

41. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraq) added that abortions could be performed |egally
where a specialist conmttee considered that term nation was necessary to
protect the health or life of the woman.

42. M. YOUSIFE (lraq) said that fines could be inposed on persons, including
grandparents, who renoved infants fromtheir parents, and penalties of

i mpri sonment, fines or corporal punishnent for endangering the |ife of
children under the age of 15, for abandoning children or for preventing them
fromreturning to their parents. Foreigners residing in lraq enjoyed the sanme
rights as Iraqi citizens, including access to nedical care.

43. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraq) added that primary health care was available to
all children, irrespective of their nationality, while a synbolic fee was
charged to foreign children for other types of treatnment. 1In connection with
t he Hopkins University study on services to children during the war, lraq's
political intentions had not changed but, as a result of the enmbargo, the
resources to give effect to devel opment policy nmeasures had been severely
curtailed. Nonetheless, Iraq's determnation to protect its children was
unshaken and the del egati on wel comed a constructive dialogue with the
Conmittee in the interests of inproving the ot of children in Iraq.

44, M. YOUSIFE (lraq) provided further details regarding the effects of war
damage on child health, including the inferior quality of drinking water
probl ems with sewage and waste di sposal |eading to the proliferation of
rodents and insects, and a sharply reduced electricity supply, which was
requi red, anongst so nany other needs, to store vaccines. However, the
Government and people of Iraq were working together to the best of their
ability to provide primary health care for all children

45. M. ABDULRIDHA (lraqg) said that independent figures for 1989 showed that
Irag had been anong the countries that had advanced furthest in reducing
infant nortality, standing at that time at 29 per 1,000, and under-five
nmortality, standing at under 60 per 1,000. However, those figures had risen




CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 11

fourfold since the aggression against Iraq and the ensui ng enbargo.
Nonet hel ess, a wi de-rangi ng canpai gn had been | aunched in many spheres

i ncludi ng i mmuni zati on, primary health care, provision of drinking water
prevention of gastric and respiratory disease, training of mdw ves, pronotion
of breastfeeding, paediatric care, health education in schools, all with the
participation of the community. A system had been introduced for rationing
medi cati on and vacci nes, and distributing scarce nedical appliances and

equi pnrent. Environmental nmanagenent techniques, were in operation, while
particul ar attention had been devoted to providing health education and
information at all levels. An in-depth assessnent was al so bei ng undertaken
of existing problens with a view to establishing a scale of priorities.

46. M. HUSSAIN (lraq) would transmt Ms. Sardenberg's recommendation to
his Government. Wile he agreed that the five-year progranmme did not attend
to all children's rights, priority had been given to the right to survival,
which inplied, first and forenost, food and nedical care. Wth UNI CEF s

assi stance, the situation was being inproved. The Mnistry for Social Affairs
operated 45 rehabilitation centres for the deaf and di sabl ed, although their
capacity had been reduced as a result of the enbargo. Sinmilarly, the absence
of oil revenues seriously obstructed health and food progranmes.

47. M. YOUSIFE (lraq), responding to the question concerning the duration of
compul sory education, said that, under Conpul sory Education Act No. 118, al
children aged six at the start of the school year had to attend school up to
the age of 12, a provision that in no way contradicted that of the Convention
whereby children could work fromthe age of 15. In reply to M. Rabah, he
said that there were three age-related categories of mnors: frombirth to
three, fromthree to 18, and frombirth to seven. The Civil Code stipul ated
that acts committed by minors had no legal validity. Lacking discernnent,
they required the control of a guardian. However, article 97 provided that
acts of a mnor that were purely to his advantage were regarded as valid, even
wi t hout the guardian's consent, while acts which could be considered

di sadvant ageous were conditional on the guardi an's consent.

48. Wth regard to crimnal responsibility, article 64 of the Code of
Crimnal Procedure had established the age of seven as that of crimna
responsibility at which a child could be prosecuted, but the linmt had been
rai sed to nine under the Welfare of Mnors Act. The Personal Status Act
authorized marriage fromthe age of 15, the age at which a minor could al so
di spose of his property under the Welfare of M nors Act.

49. Regar di ng respect for the views of the child in schools and in the
courts, in schools the National Association of Iragi Students, wth
representatives elected fromanong the student body, could express students
views and voice their concerns, w thout prejudice to the right of individua
students to file conplaints or express their opinions to the pertinent
authorities. |In secondary schools, a nodel student m ght be elected to
represent his colleagues. As stated in the witten replies submtted by Iraq,
in the courts a witness over 15 years of age had to take an oath, while the
testi mony of persons bel ow that age, who were not regarded as full |ega

wi t nesses, m ght be heard as evidence but wi thout an oath being taken. The
procedure whereby the Court could hear custody cases to protect the best
interests of the child would be expl ai ned subsequently.



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 12

50. Responding to a question by Ms. Palme, he said that inheritance in al
Musl i m countries was governed by unequi vocal and conpul sory | egislation on the
rights of men and wonen, justified by the fact that the Islam c Sharia had
been the first legislation in the world to endow women with rights they had
not previously enjoyed, such as independent status and i ndependent property
rights. Wen a woman nmarried she retai ned possession of her property and did
not need to relinquish it to her husband. The allocation of a |arger share of
i nheritance to the man under the Sharia went hand in hand with greater
obligations on him since he was required to support his wife even if she was
rich. The legislation was therefore not discrimnatory in the strict sense of
article 1 of the Convention and had posed no problenms in any Arab country.
Equality prevailed with regard to the inheritance of land in Iragq.

51. M. HUSSAIN (Iraqg), in response to Ms. Sardenberg's question on
literacy, added that Act No. 118 had decreed six years of conpul sory education
for all children fromthe age of three, while the 1994 decision of the

Revol uti on Command Council had established free and compul sory genera
education. UNI CEF had appl auded the results of Iraq' s 1978 Nati onal Campaign
for the Conpul sory Elimnation of Illiteracy, which obliged parents to send
their children to school between the ages of four and 16 or, failing that, to
a literacy centre.

52. M. YOUSIF (Iraq) inforned the Cormittee that his del egati on woul d
di stribute a nunber of statistical tables at the next neeting.

53. The CHAI RPERSON invited Commttee menbers to ask foll ow up questions on
the i ssues addressed by the Iraqi del egation, and proceed to questions on
civil rights and freedons and fanmly environnent and alternative care.

54. Ms. MXHUANE said that her question on guarantees with regard to the
best interests of the child had been partially answered by the excerpts from
the Constitution cited by the Iraqi del egation, denonstrating the existence of
sonme guarantees that had not been spelled out in lraq's initial report. She
was, however, still disturbed by the notion of 14 years as the m ni mum age for
voluntary enlistnent in the arnmy, an area fraught wi th danger. The extrenely
broad and conmplex term “best interests of the child” perforce enconpassed
children's safety, so that the legislation in question infringed the right of
the child to protection, devel opment and survival. Her second concern was the
report's silence on the subject of landnmines in Irag, which were certainly not
in the best interests of the child. She wondered whether any guarantees

exi sted in that regard

55. Ms. KARP had noted during the description given of the Commttee for
Gender Equality that, unless it was a mistake in the witten answers, the

M ni ster for Justice was not included in the Child Welfare Authority.

Al t hough the latter had been established in 1982, prior to ratification of the
Convention, inplenentation of the Convention did include |egal issues; and

al t hough the presence of the Finance Mnister was certainly useful, the
presence of the Mnister of Justice was surely vital; she asked the del egation
to consider including him Wth regard to early marriage, the |egislative
requi renment for court approval was an inportant and conmendabl e step towards
limting the phenonenon; the need for a court decision on the nmental state of
the girl was another inportant point. However, given the prohibition of



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 13

sexual relations outside marriage and the consequent absence of an age of
consent, was it not a fact that parents m ght approve marriage in order to
prevent extramarital sexual relations, obviously believing they were
protecting the best interests of their daughter? There was clearly a conflict
of interests in that case, and it would be interesting to know how it was
dealt with. Wat guaranteed that the judge was not influenced by the parents
W shes?

56. On page 48 of the witten replies, regarding the National Plan for
Children up to the Year 2000, point (iv), under State-run hostels for

chil dren, nentioned encouragenent of marriages between i nmates. What was the
basis of that policy? Did it not encourage early marriages? If it referred
to alimted nunber of early marriages only and was not the rule, the
inplications were limted; but if it was general procedure it mght raise
guestions about the results of the canpaign and about attitudes reflected in
the legislation that required court approval. Clearly, early marriages were
opposed in theory, but what was the situation in practice?

57. Wth regard to hearing the views of the child, what was the attitude of
the courts and administration with regard to children, and what was the
procedure for conplaints? Obviously, in schools there was the Association of
Students, but it was inportant to renenber that sometimes a child was afraid
to complain. Was there any procedure, not only in schools but in welfare
institutions and institutions for children in conflict with the law, or within
the structure of the Welfare Authority, to encourage the child to conplain, to
ensure the child would not be harnmed for conplaining, and to nake it easy to
conplain - not to people fromwi thin the institution but to an external body;
visitors, or inspectors?

58. Unfortunately, there had been no clear answer to the previous day's
guesti on on whether Iraq had consi dered establishing an i ndependent
institution to air conplaints fromchildren and to focus on the views of
children, in order to inplenment that part of the Convention on nmaking children
vi sible and active participants in society. There was a concern that the
Child Welfare Authority was not structured so as to be available to deal with
private conplaints, nor did it have full nationw de coverage for cases of

i nfringements of children's rights. Ws there any possibility of establishing
an i ndependent institution to encourage children to speak out?

59. Public attitudes, and particularly parental attitudes, to hearing the
child were a cultural issue, not adequately covered in the report or the
written replies. It was hel pful to understand the prevalent culture. What

was the attitude towards dialoguing with the child instead of nmintaining a
position of authority supported by corporal punishnent? What was bei ng done
to educate parents to nove froma position of responsibility and the
assunption that they knew what was best for the child, towards taking the
child s views and feelings into account? What procedures guaranteed that the
best interests of the child were a prine consideration in daily life in
institutions? Wre there any counselling services for children or

adol escents, such as tel ephone help lines or special clinics, where they could
air their concerns and feelings?



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 14

60. Finally, concerning the gap between the end of conpul sory education at
age 12 and the |l egal age for admi ssion to work at 15, what were children who
did not continue their education neant to do during those three years? Surely
it would be nore reasonable to make educati on conpul sory until the age of 15,
when it was considered appropriate for children to start work.

61. VWhile it was true that school registration figures showed only slight

di fferences between boys and girls, the statistics for school drop-outs,
particularly in the 12-14 age range, and especially in rural areas,
denonstrated that fewer girls continued with education. Conments were invited
fromthe del egation on that point.

62. Ms. SARDENBERG wel coned the reference to the presentation of the
docunent adopted by the Beijing Conference, which asked for nationa
strategi es and which included a chapter on the girl child. She welconed the
procl amati on of the National Strategy in that respect, but stressed that
action was needed to change attitudes. Were educational materials free from
stereotypes of gender roles in society?

63. Despite the UNI CEF and UNESCO prizes for the literacy canpaign, the
current situation in the country had led to a worrying trend of increasing
illiteracy rates, rising nore rapidly anong wonen, denonstrating that their
situation was still nore vul nerable.

64. In relation to the right to life, and with regard to declining nutrition
| evel s, how did the food distribution and rationing systemthat had been

i ntroduced work? Wth specific regard to civil rights and freedons, the
Committee keenly supported registration at birth, since registration vested
the individual with citizenship and its acconpanying rights. However
Committee nenbers had heard that registration of births was difficult in rura
areas; that was a matter for concern, in view of the fact that the food

di stribution system was based on individual cards. Could the del egation

el aborate on how the issue of unregistered children was dealt with?

65. Page 44 of the witten answers, in reply to question 20 of the |ist of

i ssues, stated that the branding and anputati on decrees had been repeal ed by
Revol uti on Command Council Decree No. 81 of 1996; however, observations by the
Human Ri ghts Conmittee expressing concern about the inposition of those crue
puni shments and requesting their repeal had been made again in 1997. Could
the del egation confirmthat the Decree had actually been adopted and that
those puni shnents had been elimnated? Perhaps a m sunderstandi ng had
occurred.

66. In that connection, since Iraq was already a State party to five of the

maj or human rights treaties, and had been presenting periodic reports to nmany

of the treaty bodies, was the Governnent considering beconing a State party to
t he Convention agai nst Torture?

67. Finally, could the delegation el aborate on the regul ations and
procedures to guarantee review of placenment of children in institutions, in
accordance with article 25 of the Convention?



CRC/ C/ SR. 483
page 15

68. Ms. PALME stressed the inportance of the changes that woul d be generated
by Iraq' s decision concerning punishnent. On the subject of child

regi stration, population groups in some areas were not assiduous in
registering their children. Failure to do so could engender ration-related
and ot her problens. She would like to know what the reasons were for their
reluctance to register. She also wished to know the situation regarding the
periodic reviews required by article 25 of the Conventi on.

69. M. RABAH asked precisely what alternative protection was provided for
children by the State in the event of the break-up of the famly or the death
of a parent, and whether there were any organi zations for protecting children
abandoned in that way. Did nenbership of a tribe or belonging to a particul ar
regi on provide greater access to that type of fam |y support? How were
child-protection institutions nonitored? He would also like to know the
mechani sms t hrough whi ch non-lraqi children could benefit fromthe services
provi ded by fam |ly-protection institutions.

70. Wth regard to fam |y viol ence and child exploitation, Arab societies
were traditionally very severe towards children, in the interests of strict
education and discipline. Children were sonetines exposed to sexual or other
abuse or inappropriate sexual behaviour within the famly. He wondered

whet her the repercussions of a child s official conplaints were sonetines
worse than the original abuse. Wat was the authorities' attitude to such
conpl aints? Could nei ghbours intervene on the child' s behalf in cases of

vi ol ence or submit a conplaint? He would like information about cases of that
ki nd whi ch had been heard by the courts. Bearing in mnd the specificity of
I rag and nei ghbouring countries, he wished to know whet her there was any
speci al body for receiving such conplaints. If not, he suggested one should
be established to serve the best interests of the child.

The neeting rose at 1 p.m




